



# An epidemiological investigation of high-risk children for Respiratory Syncytial Virus infections

RWE palivizumab utilization as a RSV preventive treatment in Lazio (Italy)

06-10-2022 #1

# Study Responsabilities:

Sponsor:	IQVIA
Study coordinator:	Valeria Belleudi
Study co-coordinator:	Franca Heiman
Writing Committee:	Michela Servadio, Antonio Addis, Marco Finocchietti, Marina Davoli, Franca Heiman, Riccardo Cipelli, Chiara Vassallo, Valeria Belleudi.
Study management:	Michela Servadio
In collaboration with:	UOSD Epidemiologia del Farmaco, Dipartimento di Epidemiologia del S.S.R – ASL Roma 1 – Regione Lazio (DEP)

Contact details: Dr. Stefano Buda Via Palmanova 51/B – 48121 Ravenna e-mail: <u>stefano.buda64@gmail.com</u> mobile: 351 5043692

Ver. 1-06-10-2022

# Table of contents

1. BACKGROUND	3
2. OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY	5
3. METHODS	5
3.1 STUDY DESIGN AND DATA SOURCE	5
3.2 STUDY POPULATION	7
3.3 PALIVIZUMAB PROPHYLAXIS	7
3.4 VARIABLES COLLECTED AT BASELINE AND EVENTS RECORDED AT FOLLOW-UP	8
3.5 STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	9
4. STUDY SPONSORSHIP AND FINANCING	9
5. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND DATA PROTECTION	9
6. REFERENCES	10
7.APPENDIX	13

#### 1. BACKGROUND

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) is a common RNA virus belonging to *Paramyxoviridae* family [1,2]. RSV is considered the leading cause of lower respiratory tract (LRT) infections in children and infants within the early childhood, especially over the first 24 months of life [3,4,5]. Unfortunately, RSV infections may lead to severe consequences that require hospitalizations and provoke morbidity and mortality in pediatric population [6,3]. Previous studies reported that specific factors increase hospitalization risk after RSV infection in children, including prematurity and comorbidities both in preterm and full-term children, such as chronic lung disease (i.e., bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD)), congenital heart disease (CHD), neurological and neuromuscular diseases [7,5]. In particular, BPD has been associated with the highest risk of hospitalization following RSV infections in children younger than 24 months [8] and relevant risks of hospitalization and mortality have been attributed also to children with CHD over the first 2 years of life [8,9].

Globally, it has been recently reported that in 2019 there were 3.6 million RSV-associated LRT infection hospital admissions in children under 5 years of age, of which 1.4 million were children aged 0-6 months, and 26,300 resulted in in-hospital death in children under 5 years, of which around 50% were children aged 0-6 months [6]. Similarly in Italy, over an observational period of 5 years (2014-2019), 62.5% of hospitalization due to RSV infections were reported in children under 3 months of age and 41% in children younger than 30 days [10].

Remarkably, one of the main causes of hospitalization in early childhood is bronchiolitis [4], that is also the most common LRT infection due to RSV [11], accounting for ~ 80% of cases in children younger than 6 months [12]. Moreover, RSV infection was found to be associated with healthcare resource utilization (HCRU) and long-term respiratory sequelae, such as highly sensitivity to lower respiratory infections, recurrent wheezing and asthma [13,14,15]. A causal relationship between RSV infection and respiratory sequalae has not been demonstrated yet and the debate is still open whether some children have a genetic predisposition to develop respiratory dysfunctions or whether there is direct damage from RSV that induces changes in the airways.

At present, while no specific therapy is approved for treatment of RSV infection and a series of vaccines and a monoclonal antibody (e.g., nirsevimab) are under investigation [16], palivizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody directed against the RSV F fusion protein [17], is the only approved preventive treatment. Specifically, the seasonal prophylaxis therapy with palivizumab has been found to reduce RSV hospitalization in high-risk infants and children [18,19]. However, palivizumab prescription is restricted to specific high-risk populations of children and definition of these populations is the core of a long lasting medical and economical discussion worldwide, starting with

its approval for prevention of serious RSV LRT disease in 1998 by the US Food and Drug Administration [20].

In 2015 the Italian Medicine Agency (AIFA) established reimbursement of palivizumab prescription for prevention of serious RSV-lung diseases that would require hospitalization in high-risk groups of infants: preterm infants (born at  $\leq$  35 weeks of gestational age (WGA)) who are < 6 months old; children who are < 2 years old and have received treatment for BPD within the previous 6 months; children who are < 2 years old and were born with hemodynamically significant CHD [21].

In 2016, according to the updated American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommendations [22], AIFA restricted the National Health System (NHS) reimbursement criteria for palivizumab prescriptions as follow [23]: children born at  $\leq$ 29 WGA and who are <1 year old; children with BPD who are <1 year old and born at <32 WGA; children who are <2 years old and required treatment for BPD within the previous 6 months; children who are <1 year old with hemodynamically significant CHD.

In addition, in 2016 AIFA allowed the reimbursement by the NHS also for prophylaxis with palivizumab for: children  $\leq 1$  year of age and with severe congenital malformations (e.g., neuromuscular, tracheo-bronchial); children  $\leq 2$  years of age in children with primitive or secondary immunodeficiencies.

Despite the fact that restriction of recommendations was based on contrasting results about the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of palivizumab found in several studies, following the influence of the Italian Society of Neonatology and patient associations, in 2017 AIFA revoked the 2016 limitations [24]. At the moment, reimbursement criteria for palivizumab include:

- Infants born at  $\leq$  35 WGA and who are < 6 months old at the beginning of RSV season;
- Children with BPD that required medical treatment within the previous 6 months and who are < 2 years old at the beginning of RSV season;
- Children born with CHD who are < 2 years old at the beginning of RSV season;
- Children born with severe congenital malformations (eg, neuromuscular, tracheo-bronchial) and who are ≤1 year old at the beginning of RSV season;
- Children with primitive or secondary immunodeficiencies and who are ≤2 years old at the beginning of RSV season.

Recently, studies investigating the effect of 2014 APP recommendations about palivizumab prescription, reported contrasting results about RSV hospitalization rate of infants born at 30-35 WGA. In particular, in Belleudi 2018 and 2021, reimbursement criteria changes were not associated with higher RSV hospitalizations rate, despite a significant reduction in palivizumab used was

detected [25,26] and previous studies support these findings [27,28,29]. On the contrary, a retrospective observational study involving 3 neonatal intensive care units in northern Italy, found a significant increase of RSV hospitalizations following restriction of palivizumab reimbursement [30] and similar findings were claimed in a systematic review focused on Italian reports [31].

According to these findings, there is a current urgent need of real world studies that may shed light on the use of palivizumab in Italy as the only approved preventive treatment against RSV for highrisk infants. In this context, the Lazio region seems to be a suitable area for real word studies. Indeed, among the Italian regions, Lazio is one of the most populated, with around 40.000 newborns per year, where palivizumab prophylaxis is frequently adopted to protect also infants born at 30-35 WGA. Both the contrasting results found over years about cost-effectiveness of palivizumab and the ascertained clinical burden of RSV infection worldwide, make further investigations in this field warranted.

### 2. OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY

The overall objective of this retrospective study is to analyze children at high-risk for RSV severe infection. The analysis, focused on children with BPD, children born with CHD and children born preterm ( $\leq$ 29 and 30-35 WGA), has the following main objectives:

I) To investigate palivizumab utilization (e.g., presence or absence of palivizumab prophylaxis, number of prescriptions, adherence, etc..);

II) In BPD, CHD and preterm populations, describe the HCRU up to 24 months after birth related to:

- LRT infection hospitalizations (due to RSV or undetermined respiratory agents (URA)) and related hospital procedures (i.e., intensive care unit (ICU), oxygen therapy, mechanical ventilation);
- Hospitalizations related to respiratory events (e.g. wheezing and bronchospasm)
- Drug consumption from primary and secondary care related to respiratory anomalies (e.g. oral systemic antibiotics, oral corticosteroids, inhaled beta-agonists, inhaled glucocorticoids).

In addition, total number of high-risk infants on total newborns in the study period will be calculated.

#### 3. METHODS

### 3.1 STUDY DESIGN AND DATA SOURCE

This is a retrospective longitudinal and record-linkage population-based cohort study. The study will be conducted in infants born between January 2017 and December 2020 in Lazio region. Specifically, three different cohorts will be identified: infants in whom BPD has been established, infants born with CHD and infants born preterm ( $\leq$ 29 and 30-35 WGA). Data used for the analyses will be extracted from six main regional administrative health databases:

- Certificate of Delivery Care (CEDAP up to 2020). This national registry, is the primary source of information about newborns, including WGA, birth weight, sex and date of birth. In addition, information about sociodemographic of parents, health status of mothers, and health status of the newborns, including, when applicable, causes of stillbirth and presence of congenital malformations (according to the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM)), are available.
- Hospital Information System (HIS). This database collects information on all hospital admissions and discharges registered in regional hospitals, including the dates of admission and discharge, diagnoses and procedures (primary and secondary) (according to the ICD-9-CM) and internal transfer (such as admission to an ICU).
- Inhabitant Registry (IR). This registry includes information about the date of birth, gender, date of registration in the regional healthcare system, and where applicable, date of deregistration.
- Drug Claims Registry. This registry collects information on drug prescriptions reimbursed by the healthcare system, including drugs dispensed by private, public and hospital pharmacies and by local health units. For each drug prescription, the following details are available: patient code, date of prescription, drug substance, marketing authorization code and number of packages. All drugs are identified through the international Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system.
- Co-payment Exemption Registry. This registry collects information on persons who benefit from co-payment of health care services requested for disease specific or income related exemptions.
- Healthcare Emergency Information System (HEIS) collects all Emergency Department (ED) visit records and includes information on patient diagnosis at discharge, according to ICD-9-CM codes, as well as admission hour and vital status.

Record-linkage among these administrative databases will be managed by DEP. The main objective of this institution is to conduct epidemiological studies aimed at improving the quality and effectiveness of healthcare and reducing the health effects of environmental exposures.

## 3.2 STUDY POPULATION

All infants born between January 2017 and December 2020, born alive, resident in Lazio region and covered by the regional healthcare system, will be selected using CEDAP, HIS (discharged after birth hospitalization) and IR. Infants will be categorized into 3 high-risk groups with the following priority: BPD, CHD, prematurity. As such, the following three cohorts will be obtained:

- Infants in whom BPD has been established (Cohort 1): among infants born between January 2017 and December 2019, infants in whom presence of BPD has been established, regardless of infants' WGA and diagnosis of CHD, will be extracted (ICD-9 codes used for infants' identification are describe in table 1 of appendix);
- Infants born with CHD (Cohort 2): among infants born between January 2017 and December 2019, infants in whom presence of CHD has been reported, regardless of infants' WGA, will be extracted (ICD-9 codes used for infants' identification are described in table 2 of appendix);
- Infants born preterm (Cohort 3): among infants born between January 2017 and December 2020, those born at ≤ 29 and 30-35 WGA will be extracted.

According to risk priority categorization for severe RSV disease, each infant will be exclusively included in one of the 3 groups.

## 3.3 PALIVIZUMAB PROPHYLAXIS

Through record-linkage with Drug Claims Registry, palivizumab prophylaxis (ATC: J06BB16) will be recorded for each RSV season. Overall, three completed RSV seasons (from 1 October to 30 April) have been defined (2017–2018; 2018–2019; 2019-2020).

For each cohort and for each RSV season, infants will be defined as eligible for palivizumab prophylaxis based on the following criteria:

- Infants in whom BPD has been established and who and are < 2 years old at the start of RSV season (cohort 1);
- Infants with CHD who are < 2 years old at the start of RSV season (cohort 2);
- Infants born preterm at 30-35 WGA who are < 6 months old at the start of RSV season or born during the RSV season and infants born preterm at ≤29 WGA who are < 12 months old at the start of RSV season or born during the RSV season (cohort 3).

In each study cohort, for each RSV season, infants will be stratified in: infants who received and infants who did not received palivizumab prophylaxis. For infants who received palivizumab, drug

utilization will be described using the following variables: age when receiving first palivizumab dose, number of palivizumab administrations, adherence (compliance with the recommended administration schedule). Palivizumab utilization will be stratified by WGA ( $\leq$ 29 and 30-35) according to data availability. In table 3 are reported more details concerning measure of palivizumab prophylaxis.

3.4 VARIABLES COLLECTED AT BASELINE AND EVENTS RECORDED AT FOLLOW-UP At baseline (at birth), specific infants' characteristics (sex, date of birth, birth weight) and mothers' characteristics (age, education, and occupation) will be retrieved by linkage among administrative health databases. As further sociodemographic information, a sensitivity analysis on mothers' copayment exemptions will be performed at baseline.

Each study cohort will be followed up for a maximum period of 24 months after birth date and the registration of specific events will be performed. In particular, three different groups of events will be considered:

- Hospitalizations for LRT infections (hospitalizations with a diagnosis of RSV or URA infection): frequency and duration of hospitalizations will be recorded and utilization of specific hospital procedures during hospitalization, such as intensive care unit (ICU), oxygen therapy, mechanical ventilation will be identified (ICD-9 codes used for identification hospitalizations and hospital procedures are described in table 4 of appendix).
- Respiratory events: hospitalizations and ED access with diagnosis of a series of respiratory events, such as bronchiectasis, chronic airway obstruction, acute bronchospasm, dyspnea and respiratory abnormalities (ICD-9 codes used for identification of respiratory events are described in table 5 of the appendix).
- Drug consumption: prescription of drugs from primary and secondary care, will be recorded (ATC codes used to track drug consumption are described in table 5 of appendix).

Investigation of LRT infections hospitalizations will be performed during RSV season (October-April) over a follow-up period of 24 months after birth date for cohort 1 (BPD) and cohort 2 (CHD), while for cohort 3 (preterm infants) the observational time window will be of 12 months after birth date. Observation of respiratory events and drug consumption will pertain a period of 24 months after birth date for both three study cohorts (for this analysis cohort 3 will be restricted to 31 December 2019). The time of onset of each event will be taken into account.

Results will be stratified by palivizumab prophylaxis (palivizumab use defined as presence: at least one palivizumab dispensation during follow-up; and absence: without any palivizumab dispensation during follow up). A further analysis based on the number of palivizumab doses administered will be performed. In addition, results will be also stratified by WGA ( $\leq$ 29 and 30-35) according to data availability.

## 3.5 STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The whole eligible population present in the databases will be included. Since descriptive methods will be applied, no sample size calculation is applicable.

Descriptive analysis will be performed on three different cohorts of high-risk children for RSV severe infection (children with BPD, children born with CHD and children born preterm ( $\leq$ 29 and 30-35 WGA).

All infants will be observed from index date (date of birth will be defined as index date) until the end of follow-up (maximum 24 months after index date), end of study (31/12/2021). Descriptive statistics will be defined by cohort and per year of birth and stratified by palivizumab use and WGA (according to data availability). Categorial variables will be presented as counts and percentages; while continuous variables will be presented as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range according to data distribution. Incidence and prevalence of hospitalizations for each RSV season will be calculated. At follow-up, infants who leave the regional healthcare system or die will be excluded from the study.

# 4. STUDY SPONSORSHIP AND FINANCING

The present study will be managed by Dipartimento di Epidemiologia del S.S.R – ASL Roma 1 – Regione Lazio. This study is promoted by IQVIA Solutions Italy S.r.l. IQVIA Solutions S.r.l. will only receive aggregated, non-identifiable data, through a final study report.

The present study was designed on the basis of an existing Agreement stipulated between IQVIA and DEP. This agreement establishes collaboration between parties in the design and management of studies focused on research topics that DEP conducts autonomously and independently from IQVIA. DEP, as institution belonging to the Lazio regional healthcare system, conducts epidemiological studies aimed at improving the available scientific knowledge of Key Opinion Leaders and plan interventions to improve the quality and effectiveness of health care resources.

# 5. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND DATA PROTECTION

The present study protocol in accordance with national legislation regarding observational study, will be notified to the local ethical committee (Ethical Committee of ASL Roma 1). Data processing and

management will be performed in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) EU Regulation n. 2016/679 and the D.Lgs. 101/18. The present study has a retrospective observational design and is based on administrative data routinely collected and available in the regional health databases. As such, written informed consents for subjects involved in the study will be not required. Data of health database are anonymized and under the responsibility of appointed regional data managers. Researchers conducting the present study do not have access to data allowing to identify the individual subject. Data linkage is performed using a unique anonymous key.

The analysis planned for the study will be conducted considering an anonymous identifier of the event (hospital code, number of records, admission and discharge date).

# 6. REFERENCES

- 1. Collins, P.L. (1991). The Molecular Biology of Human Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) of the Genus Pneumovirus . In: Kingsbury, D.W. (eds) The Paramyxoviruses. The Viruses. Springer, Boston, MA..
- 2. Ogra PL. Respiratory syncytial virus: the virus, the disease and the immune response. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* 2004;5 Suppl A:S119-S126. doi:10.1016/s1526-0542(04)90023-1.
- 3. Nair H, Nokes DJ, Gessner BD, et al. Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*. 2010;375(9725):1545-1555. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60206-1.
- 4. Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. *N Engl J Med*. 2009;360(6):588-598. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0804877.
- 5. Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Blumkin AK, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus-associated hospitalizations among children less than 24 months of age. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132(2):e341-e348. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-0303.
- Li Y, Wang X, Blau DM, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in children younger than 5 years in 2019: a systematic analysis. *Lancet*. 2022;399(10340):2047-2064. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00478-0.
- Rha B, Curns AT, Lively JY, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Associated Hospitalizations Among Young Children: 2015-2016. *Pediatrics*. 2020;146(1):e20193611. doi:10.1542/peds.2019-3611.
- Boyce TG, Mellen BG, Mitchel EF Jr, Wright PF, Griffin MR. Rates of hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection among children in medicaid. *J Pediatr*. 2000;137(6):865-870. doi:10.1067/mpd.2000.110531.
- Friedman D, Fryzek J, Jiang X, Bloomfield A, Ambrose CS, Wong PC. Respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization risk in the second year of life by specific congenital heart disease diagnoses. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(3):e0172512. Published 2017 Mar 2. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172512.

- Barbati F, Moriondo M, Pisano L, et al. Epidemiology of Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Related Hospitalization Over a 5-Year Period in Italy: Evaluation of Seasonality and Age Distribution Before Vaccine Introduction. *Vaccines (Basel)*. 2020;8(1):15. Published 2020 Jan 4. doi:10.3390/vaccines8010015
- Alverson B, McCulloh RJ, Dawson-Hahn E, Smitherman SE, Koehn KL. The clinical management of preterm infants with bronchiolitis. *Hosp Pediatr*. 2013;3(3):244-250. doi:10.1542/hpeds.2012-0071.
- 12. Reeves RM, Hardelid P, Gilbert R, Warburton F, Ellis J, Pebody RG. Estimating the burden of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) on respiratory hospital admissions in children less than five years of age in England, 2007-2012. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*. 2017;11(2):122-129. doi:10.1111/irv.12443.
- Fauroux B, Simões EAF, Checchia PA, et al. The Burden and Long-term Respiratory Morbidity Associated with Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection in Early Childhood. *Infect Dis Ther.* 2017;6(2):173-197. doi:10.1007/s40121-017-0151-4.
- 14. Wu P, Hartert TV. Evidence for a causal relationship between respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther*. 2011;9(9):731-745. doi:10.1586/eri.11.92.
- McLaurin KK, Farr AM, Wade SW, Diakun DR, Stewart DL. Respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization outcomes and costs of full-term and preterm infants. *J Perinatol*. 2016;36(11):990-996. doi:10.1038/jp.2016.113.
- 16. Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates [published correction appears in Lancet Infect Dis. 2018 Jul 25;:]. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2018;18(10):e295-e311. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5.
- Magro M, Mas V, Chappell K, et al. Neutralizing antibodies against the preactive form of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein offer unique possibilities for clinical intervention. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012;109(8):3089-3094. doi:10.1073/pnas.1115941109.
- Andabaka T, Nickerson JW, Rojas-Reyes MX, Rueda JD, Bacic Vrca V, Barsic B. Monoclonal antibody for reducing the risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2013;(4):CD006602. Published 2013 Apr 30. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006602.pub4.
- 19. Checchia PA, Nalysnyk L, Fernandes AW, et al. Mortality and morbidity among infants at high risk for severe respiratory syncytial virus infection receiving prophylaxis with palivizumab: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*. 2011;12(5):580-588. doi:10.1097/PCC.0b013e3182070990.
- 20. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Approval letter, palivizumab.1998. Available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/appletter/1998/palimed061998L.htm (accessed August 16, 2022).
- 21. Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica Italiana. May 30, 2015, n 124. https://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/gu/2015/05/30/124/sg/pdf (accessed August 16, 2022).
- 22. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Infectious Diseases; American Academy of Pediatrics Bronchiolitis Guidelines Committee. Updated guidance for palivizumab prophylaxis among infants and young children at increased risk of hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatrics*. 2014;134(2):e620-e638. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1666.

- 23. Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica Italiana. October 26, 2016, n 252. https://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/gu/2016/10/27/252/sg/pdf (accessed August 16, 2022).
- 24. Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica Italiana. November 9, 2017, n 262. https://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/gu/2017/11/09/262/sg/pdf (accessed August 16, 2022).
- 25. Belleudi V, Trotta F, Pinnarelli L, Davoli M, Addis A. Neonatal outcomes following new reimbursement limitations on palivizumab in Italy. *Arch Dis Child*. 2018;103(12):1163-1167. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2018-315349.
- 26. Belleudi V, Marchetti F, Finocchietti M, Davoli M, Addis A. Palivizumab reimbursement criteria and neonatal RSV hospitalisation: a regional retrospective review. *BMJ Paediatr Open*. 2021;5(1):e000985. Published 2021 Mar 1. doi:10.1136/bmjpo-2020-000985.
- 27. Buckley BC, Roylance D, Mitchell MP, Patel SM, Cannon HE, Dunn JD. Description of the outcomes of prior authorization of palivizumab for prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection in a managed care organization. *J Manag Care Pharm*. 2010;16(1):15-22. doi:10.18553/jmcp.2010.16.1.15.
- Newby B, Sorokan T. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection Rates with Limited Use of Palivizumab for Infants Born at 29 to 31+6/7 Weeks Gestational Age. *Can J Hosp Pharm*. 2017;70(1):13-18. doi:10.4212/cjhp.v70i1.1623.
- 29. Resch B, Bramreiter VS, Kurath-Koller S, Freidl T, Urlesberger B. Respiratory syncytial virus associated hospitalizations in preterm infants of 29 to 32 weeks gestational age using a risk score tool for palivizumab prophylaxis. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2017;36(6):1057-1062. doi:10.1007/s10096-016-2891-6.
- 30. Priante E, Tavella E, Girardi E, et al. Restricted Palivizumab Recommendations and the Impact on RSV Hospitalizations among Infants Born at > 29 Weeks of Gestational Age: An Italian Multicenter Study. *Am J Perinatol.* 2019;36(S 02):S77-S82. doi:10.1055/s-0039-1691771.
- 31. Cutrera R, Wolfler A, Picone S, et al. Impact of the 2014 American Academy of Pediatrics recommendation and of the resulting limited financial coverage by the Italian Medicines Agency for palivizumab prophylaxis on the RSV-associated hospitalizations in preterm infants during the 2016-2017 epidemic season: a systematic review of seven Italian reports. *Ital J Pediatr.* 2019;45(1):139. Published 2019 Nov 9. doi:10.1186/s13052-019-0736-5.

#### **7.APPENDIX**



#### Figure 1. Representation of cohorts according to risk priority and subcohorts

BPD= infants in whom BPD has been established regardless of their WGA and CHD diagnosis; CHD= infants born with CHD regardless of their WGA; PRETERM= infants born preterm (≤29 and 30-35 WGA).

PRESENCE= infants eligible for palivizumab prophylaxis who received treatment (at least once during the selected follow up period) ABSENCE= infants eligible for palivizumab prophylaxis who not received treatment

#### Table 1. Diagnosis codes used for identification of cohort 1

Description	ICD-9-CM code
Chronic respiratory disease arising in the perinatal period	770.7
Respiratory distress syndrome in newborn	769

#### Table 2. Diagnosis codes used for identification of cohort 2

Description	ICD-9-CM code
Congenital heart diseases	745*; 746*; 747*

\* Includes all diagnostic subcodes.

Drug	Outcome	Code
	Palivizumab	ATC J06BB16
Prophylaxis	Variables	
	Age when receiving first palivizumab dose	
	Number of palivizumab administrations	
	Adherence	

 Table 4. Diagnosis codes and procedural codes used for identification of hospitalizations related to LRT infections (RSV and URA infections)

Hospitalizations	Outcome	Code
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus Infection	ICD-9-CM 079.6
	Pneumonia due to respiratory syncytial virus	ICD-9-CM 480.1
	Bronchiolitis due to respiratory syncytial virus	ICD-9-CM 466.11
URA	Acute bronchitis and bronchiolitis	ICD-9-CM 466 <sup>\$</sup>
	Bronchitis (unspecified if chronic or acute)	ICD-9-CM 490.1
	Viral pneumonia	ICD-9-CM 480 <sup>§</sup>
	Bronchopneumonia, organism unspecified	ICD-9-CM 485
	Pneumonia, organism unspecified	ICD-9-CM 486
Hospital procedures	Non-invasive mechanical ventilation	ICD-9-CM 93.90
	Intermittent positive pressure breathing [IPPB]	ICD-9-CM 93.91
	Other continuous invasive mechanical ventilation	ICD-9-CM 96.7*
	Ventilatory support (mechanical ventilation and/or continuous positive airway pressure [CPAP] ventilators)	ICD-9-CM 96.01 ICD-9-CM 96.05 ICD-9-CM 96.7*

\$Includes 466.0, 466.1 and 466.19

<sup>§</sup>Includes 480.8 and 480.9

\*Includes all procedures codes

Table 5. Codes for identification of respiratory events and drug consumption			
Hospitalizations	Outcome	Code	
Respiratory events	Bronchiectasis	ICD-9-CM 494	
	Chronic airway obstruction, not elsewhere classified	ICD-9-CM 496	
	Acute bronchospasm	ICD-9-CM 519.11	
	Dyspnea and respiratory abnormalities	ICD-9-CM 786.0*	
Drug consumption	Outcome	Code	
	Antibacterials for systemic use	ATC J01	
	Adrenergics, inhalants (Beta2-agonists)	ATC R03A	
	Selective beta-2-adrenoreceptor agonists	ATC R03AC	
	Glucocorticoids	ATC R03BA	
	Corticosteroids for systemic use, plain	ATC H02A	

Table 5. Codes for identification of respiratory events and drug consumption

\*Includes all diagnostic subcodes.